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November 14, 1996.-'
s

,

EA 96-457 '

Florida Power & Light Company '
ATTN: T. F. Plunkett i

' President - Nuclear Division
'

P.- O. Boi 14000 -
~

' Juno Beach, Florida 33408-0420 .

;

iSUBJECT: NRC SPECIAL INSPECTION REPORT 50-335/96-22, 50-389/96-22

Dear Mr. Plunkett:

i On November 14,1996, the NRC completed a special inspection of engineering
activities' at your St. Lucie 1 and 2 facilities. The enclosed report presents the.
results of that inspection. Areas examined during the inspection are identifed in the
report. Within these areas, the. inspection consisted of selective examinations of
procedures and representative records, plant drawings, and engineering evaluations.

Based on the results of this inspection, two apparent violations were identifed and
are being considered for escalated enforcement action in accordance with the
" General Statement of Policy and Procedure for NRC Enforcement Actions"
(Enforcement Policy), NUREG-1600.

REWRITE THE NEXT TWO PARAGRAPHS .

"
1One of the apparent violations is of concern because it indicates that deficiencies
have existed in your configuration management processes which have manifested
themselves in failures to ensure that the design of the plant was properly
incorporated into plant procedures and, to.a lesser degree, drawings. W'hile no
plant event has been tied to the inaccuracies thus far identified, we are concerned
about the potential impact of inaccuracies which may not yet have been discovered.

In addition to configuration management issues, four apparent violations were
identified in the area of preparation of safety evaluations under 10 CFR 50.59.
These apparent violations are of concem because they indicate that weaknesses
exist in both recognizing the need for safety evaluations and in the process applied
in assessing' the' impact of changes upon the plant.,

| A predecisional enforcement conference to discuss these apparent violations has
been' scheduled for December 10,1996. -The decision to hold a predecisional

: enforcement ~ conference does not mean that the NRC has determined that a
'
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violation has occurred or that enforcement action will be taken. This conference is
being held to obtain information to enable the NRC to make an enforcement |

1

- decision, such as a common understanding of the facts, root causes, missed
opportunities to identify the apparent violations sooner, corrective actions,
significance of the issues and the need for lasting and effective corrective actions.
In addition, this is an opportunity for you to point out any errors in our inspection
report and for you to provide any information concerning your perspectives on 1) the
severity of the violations, 2) the application of the factors that the NRC considers
when it determines the amount of a civil penalty that may be assessed in
accordance with Section VI.B.2 of the Enforcement Policy, and 3) any other
application of the Enforcement Policy to this case, including the exercise of
discretion in accordance with Section Vll.

You will be advised by separate corre'spondence of the results of our deliberations
on this matter. No response regarding these apparent violations is required at this
time.

In accordance with 10 CFR 2.700 of the NRC's " Rules of Practice," a copy of this
letter and its enclosures will be placed in the NRC Public Document Room (PDR).

Sincerely,

I

Ellis W. Merschoff, Director i
Division of Reactor Projects !

Docket Nos. 50-335, 50-389 ;
'License Nos. DPR-67, NPF-16

Enciosure: Inspection Report 50-335/96-22, 50-389/96-22 !

|
cc w/ encl.
J. A. Stall
Site Vice President
St. Lucie Nuclear Plant
P. O. Box 128
Ft. Pierce, FL 34954-0128

H. N. Paduano, Manager
Licensing and Special Programs
Florida Power and Light Company
P. O. Box 14000
Juno Beach, FL 33408 0420 !
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J.' Scarola -
--Plant General Manager _' :
-St.'Lucie Nuclear Plant' :

P. O. Box 128 |
' Ft. Pierce,' FL 34954-0128

|

E. J. Weinkam
Plant Licensing Manager y

St. Lucie Nuclear Plant
P. O. Box 128-
Ft. Pierce, FL 34954-0218

- J. R. Nmvman, Esq. ;

!Morgan,- Lewis & Bockius
:1800 M Street, NW -
Washington, D. C. 20036

John T. Butler, Esq. ;

- Steel,' Hector and Davis ;-

4000 Southeast Financial Center i

Miami, FL 33131-2398 I

|

. Bill Passetti
Office of Radiation Control ;'

'

i Department of Health and
Rehabilitative Services :

4

1317 Winewood Boulevard
Tallahassee, FL 32399-0700 !

'

1

Jack Shreve Public Counsel !

Office of the Public Counsel ).

c/o The Florida Legislature !
g

; ' 111 West Madison Avenue, Room 812
Tallahassee, FL 32399-1400. j

I-Joe Myers, Director,

: Division of Emergency Preparedness |

Department of Community Affairs !

. -2740 Centerview Drive I
Tallahassee,.FL -32399-2100 {

! Thomas R. L. Kindred
.

: County Administrator
'St.'Lucie County ;'
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2300 Virginia Avenue
Ft. Pierce, FL 34982

.

Charles B. Brinkman.
'

Washington Nuclear Operations -
ABB Combustion Engineering, Inc.

212300 Twinbrook Parkway, Suite 3300i

Rockville, MD ' 20852

E. J. Weinkam
Plant Licensing Manager

,

2St. Lucie Nuclear Plant
P. O. Box 128

' Ft. Pierce, FL 34954-0218
,

J. R. Newman, Esq.
Morgan, Lewis & Bockius
1800 M Street, NW

.. Washington, D. C. 20036 ;

i
'

John T. Butler, Esq.
Steel, Hector and Davis
4000 Southeast Financial Center
Miami, FL : 33131-2398-

Bill Passetti .

Office of Radiation Control*

Department of Health and
Rehabilitative Services

1317 Winewood Boulevard
Tallahassee, FL 32399-0700

Jack Shreve, Public Counsel
Office of the Public Counsel

: clo The Florida Legislature
111 West Madison Avenue, Room 812 .

Tallahassee, FL 32399-1400

. Joe Myers, Director
Division of Emergency Preparedness

~ Department of Community Affairs-
2740 Centerview Drive -
Tallahassee, FL 32399-2100
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U
, Thomas R. L. Kindred i
*

r ' County Administrator ;

i St. Lucie County a
.2300 Virginia Avenue:

'

'
''

F Ft. Pierce,' FL 34982' , i
;: -i

C' arles' B. Brinkman -he .,

Washington Nuclear Operations ,

i. ABB Combustion Engineering, Inc. 1

! 12300 Twinbrook Parkway, Suite 3300 - ;

Rockville, MD < 20852
'

'

.e
Distnbution w/ encl:"

'

iCHECK THIS LIST NOT CORRECT 7??????????????????? |

'J. Lieberman, OE. [
B. Summers, OE:EA file (2 LTRHD) !

' K. D. Landis,' Ril '|1

J. A. Norris, NRR -
B. R. Crowley, Ril .

,

;G. A. Hallstrom, Ril
.

W. H. Rankin, Rll
S.' Mc DuBose, Ril

1: PUBLIC

NRC Resident inspector-

U.S.: Nuclear Regulatory Comm.. ,

p '7585 South Highway A1A
Jensen Beach, FL- 34957-2010 '

f' Mr f U Rf f MJ Rf f fjRP Rf f -MM Rf f MS Rff DRP R1f 4ffs
'

$1GNATURf
' ;1 .

CRapo WM111er JYork- (Merschoff Burye-
NAME [ Lea:S a

DATE 01 / / 97 01 / / 97 ' 01 / / 97 01 / / 97 01 / / 97 01 / / 97

COPY? YES '' NO YES NO VIS NO YES - NO - YES NO YES NO-
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